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Other than the occasional ironic commen-
tary on Quaker participation in the Rebellion 
of  1837, little has been written about Canadian 
Quakers’ contributions to the development of  
democratic governance in Upper Canada.  Our 2

collective fascination with revolutionary mo-
ments (and in this case, their failure), has ob-
scured the important work of  Friends in build-
ing a strong culture of  deliberative democracy, 
both within and outside their meeting houses. 
One of  the most important of  those early 
friends, of  whom almost nothing has been 
written, is the Yonge Street Friend Samuel 
Hughes. Hughes and most of  his family joined 
the Children of  Peace after the War of  1812. 
During the 1830s, he was to become the presi-
dent of  Canada’s first farmers’ cooperative (and 
mutual credit association), a prominent reform 
politician, and a temperance advocate. After the 
Rebellion, he rejoined the Hicksite Quakers, 
where he was soon recognized as a minister. I 
recount Samuel Hughes’s storied history to 
highlight the contribution of  Quakers to de-
mocratic reform and economic justice. 

The silence on early Quaker political activity 
is best highlighted by a comparison of  Hughes 
with his relation, Samuel Lount, a reform 
member of  the House of  Assembly, and a mar-
tyr of  the Rebellion of  1837. The two men 
were surprisingly similar in many ways. Both 
were born in Catawissa (formerly Hughesville), 
Pennsylvania. Both men emigrated to the 
Yonge Street area before the War of  1812 with 
the extended Hughes family, although Lount 
was trapped south of  the border during the 
War of  1812. Hughes became a member of  the 
Children of  Peace along with most of  the ex-
tended Hughes family in 1812; Lount did not. 
By 1837, they lived in neighbouring communi-
ties, with Lount’s farm on the hill south of  

Holland Landing overlooking Hughes’s home 
across the Holland River valley in Hope 
(Sharon). Both men were prominent reform 
politicians: Lount in Simcoe County (whose 
seat was Holland Landing), and Hughes in 
York County. Both men were renowned for 
their charity; Hughes as an elder of  the Chil-
dren of  Peace, and Lount among the immi-
grants to Simcoe County.  Both men sought to 3

promote the Farmers’ Storehouse, Canada’s 
first farmers cooperative -- Hughes as its presi-
dent, and Lount, with Mackenzie and Gibson, 
on the legislative committee to incorporate it in 
1835. Both men were delegates to the planned 
Constitutional Convention of  1837, which 
formed the organizational framework for the 
Rebellion.  

The common set of  economic values, poli-
tics and history these men shared would lead us 
to expect a similar response to Mackenzie’s call 
to arms. Yet, while Lount became a leader of  
the rebellion, Hughes is noticeable by his ab-
sence. Lount has become an historical foot-
note, an icon of  the Rebellion’s failure. Despite 
his equal contribution to the politics of  the era, 
Hughes, like their common set of  values, has 
been forgotten. The following article is a first, 
biographical attempt to trace those values, their 
origins, and the political action it inspired. 

Family & Early Life 
Samuel Hughes was born 4 February 1785 in 

Catawissa, second son of  Job Hughes and his 
second wife Eleanor Lee. Job Hughes was a 
noted Friends minister whose life has been re-
counted in this journal.  He was a pacifist pio4 -
neer in the new western districts of  Pennsylva-
nia along the Susquehanna River during the 
revolutionary war, trapped between hostile First 
Nations peoples supporting the British on one 
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side, and revolutionaries intent on impressing 
him in the Continental Army on the other. On 
9 March 1780, Job was jailed for a year on sus-
picion of  giving information to hostile first na-
tions. After the war, the family grew with the 
birth of  eight children, as did the village and 
monthly meeting of  Catawissa. However, new 
land in the area was not available, and in 
1804-5, the extended family moved to Upper 
Canada. Two daughters married Friends in the 
West Lake area; the remaining six children, in-
cluding Samuel, all settled with their parents in 
the Yonge Street settlement where they married 
and established their own farms and businesses. 
Job Hughes was the leading minister in the 
Yonge Street Monthly Meeting, and his wife 
Eleanor was an elder. Job died in 1810 on a trip 
to attend New York Yearly Meeting; his will 
stipulated that Samuel was to care for his 
mother, and inherit the family farm opposite 
the Yonge Street meetinghouse. 

Samuel Hughes was twenty years old when 
the family moved to Upper Canada. He later 
wrote: “My Character through the progress of  
my youth may be described as follows, in 
Childhood; passionate and willful; and as a 
youth- wild and light minded; attended at times 
however with great sorrow, and soberness, with 
deep solemnity of  thought. And as a young 
man I was zealous for religion and very full of  
action.”  This self-appraisal is reflected in the 5

meeting minutes. He was called upon as an 
overseer, and to represent the meeting at the 

Canada Half  Year’s Meeting in 1810. Two years 
before the War of  1812, he also participated on 
a committee that recorded that Quakers on 
Yonge Street had lost £243 11s 7d in property 
taken in lieu of  military service, and that eight 
members had been jailed for one to three 
months.  6

Samuel Hughes was married for the first of  
three times in June 1811 in the Yonge Street 
Monthly Meeting to Sarah Webster, daughter 
of  Abram and Anna Lundy Webster, born 4 
October 1786 in Sussex County, New Jersey. 
She immigrated with her parents to Upper 
Canada, settling first on the shores of  Lake 
Erie in 1793 and later moving to Whitchurch 
Township. The new couple remained on his 
widowed mother’s farm, Lot 91, 1st Conces-
sion, Whitchurch Township. Sarah died 24 De-
cember1815, after the successive deaths of  
three infants. He married secondly, Mary Doan, 
in 1819, daughter of  Ebenezer Doan Sr. and 
Anna Savilla Sloy Doan born 7 December 
1762; she died childless on 5 April 1827. He 
married lastly, Anna Armitage, on 21 June 
1829, daughter of  Amos and Martha Doan 
Armitage, widow of  Isaac Wiggins, and niece 
of  his second wife.  

War & Peace 
The death of  Job Hughes and a second min-

ister, Jacob Winn, left a religious vacuum in the 
Yonge Street Monthly Meeting in the years 
immediately preceding the War of  1812. By 
that time, meetings for worship had also been 
established in Queen Street (now Sharon), 
Whitchurch, Uxbridge and Pickering. David 
Willson, a new member who had donated land 
for the Queen Street meetinghouse, tried to fill 
that ministerial void in late 1811. Hughes de-
scribed Willson as “a man of  great integrity in 
his devotions, zealous for religion and very ab-
stemious in meats and drinks.”  Willson had 
served on numerous committees in the Month-
ly Meeting, and had served as an overseer. But 
on 15 September 1811, he began “bearing tes-
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timony that the appearance of  Christ in the 
flesh was not to be regarded as God; but as a 
man endowed with Divine power in whom the 
will of  God was made manifest and in whom 
God was well pleased; and that in him the 
works of  God (as relates to the outward) ware 
finished and that hence forth the dispensation 
of  God to his people became spiritual; and that 
the manhood of  Christ should be no more 
worshiped as God.”  7

Willson’s first religious confident had been 
his neighbour, and Samuel Hughes elder sister, 
Rachel Hughes Lundy. She married Israel 
Lundy on 23 February 1802 in Muncy Monthly 
Meeting, and they moved to Upper Canada in 
1805, buying the west fifty eight acres of  Lot 8, 
2nd Concession of  East Gwillimbury, where 
they established a grist and saw mill. Rachel was 
one of  the most active women Quakers serving 
on committees of  the Yonge Street Monthly 
Meeting; she thus frequently worked with 
David Willson, her neighbour, and one of  the 
most active male committee members. It is thus 
no surprise that Willson turned to her when he 
first felt called to the ministry. Willson warned 
her that his ministry presaged “a new and glo-
rious Dispensation [which] was about to break 
forth in the world. And that it would be more 
bright than any had been since the days of  Je-
sus Christ: and that it was a doubt with me, 
whether such as thou and I am, will be suffered 
to remain amongst the Quakers or not, for it is 
as much for Quakers to be convinced of  this 
day, as it is for others to be convinced of  their 
day, and dispensation.”  8

Willson’s ministry caused some discord in 
the Monthly Meeting, but he was not immedi-
ately disowned. Rather, the meeting’s elders, 
including Eleanor Hughes (Samuel and Rachel’s 
mother) were called on to treat with him. But 
as Samuel (who was living with his mother) 
noted, “unfortunately when they came togeth-
er, they were in the same condition, some ap-
proved and some disapproved the doctrine, and 
instead of  being prepared to give council for 

the restoration of  unity, they only made the 
breach the worse, it was like the new cloth to 
old garments.  Thus things continued to grow 
worse for about a year, when two of  the Elders 
who disapproved of  him, took the responsibili-
ty upon themselves, and required him to either 
keep silent or conform to their views in doc-
trines.”  It was this demand that politicized the 9

meeting just as the War of  1812 commenced in 
June. 

Willson withdrew from the Monthly Meeting 
the next day, and opened his own home for 
meetings for worship. Rachel Hughes was one 
of  the original five members of  the Children 
of  Peace to meet there. In the succeeding 
months, her mother Eleanor and siblings 
Samuel, Amos and Sarah, and their families, 
also appeared to have sided with Willson. I 
have pointed out elsewhere that most of  those 
who joined the Children of  Peace lived along 
Yonge Street, a military road, and not in the 
Queen Street, Whitchurch or Uxbridge meet-
ings. It seems that their experience of  religious 
persecution for their pacifist stance on the war 
drew them to Willson who had formed a new 
group, the Children of  Peace, on the promise he 
would raise the peace testimony as “an Ensign 
to the Nations.”  It was these families – most 10

of  whom were related to the Hugheses – who 
were to move to East Gwillimbury after the 
War, and to join Willson in building the new 
community of  “Hope.” Samuel Hughes sold 
his farm opposite the Yonge Street meeting-
house, and purchased one hundred forty six 
acres on lots 105 & 106, 1st Concession, of  
East Gwillimbury, right behind the David Will-
son lot (Conc. 2, lot 10), and downstream from 
his brother-in-law Israel Lundy’s grist mill. He 
operated a sawmill on this land in partnership 
with Enos Dennis, his brother-in-law. 

Charitable Acts 
During the 1820s, the Children of  Peace 

concentrated on building the basic institutions 
of  their community: farms, meetinghouse and 
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schools. But by 1825, they had begun their 
largest project yet, the construction of  the 
Temple. It is important to underscore that the 
Children of  Peace described the Temple on the 
one hand as “just” a  meetinghouse, yet alter-
nately, not THE meetinghouse. Their meeting-
house for regular worship was located to the 
south of  the Temple. The Temple, on the other 
hand, was used only once a month for the col-
lection of  alms in a special ceremony. The cen-
tral pillars holding up the building are labeled 
faith, hope, love and charity. And indeed, they 
viewed charity as a foundational element of  
their community. 

Samuel Hughes, as an elder, played a great 
role in the distribution of  these alms. William 
Lyon Mackenzie, on his first visit to the com-
munity in 1830, found 

In the house of  Samuel Hughes, a mem-

ber of  this new society… an undoubted 
evidence of  practical Christianity. Three 
years ago, an old decrepit Negro, who had 
up to that time begged for a subsistence, 
was struck by the palsy in his body and 
one of  his sides, and lost the use of  his 
limbs and one arm. Mr. Hughes took him 
in – had a chair with wheels made for him 
– and continues to wait upon him and 
assist the helpless object, who can do 
nothing for himself. Whether he and his 
family do this altogether at their own ex-
pense, or whether they get some help 
from the society, I do not know; but their 
conduct might put to the blush many who 
make extraordinary professions of  that 
meek faith.  11

  
A second example was also reported by Cap-
tain William Johnson of  Pefferlaw, thirty miles 
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north of  Hope, in the middle of  the depression 
of  early 1837. 

I had not long been in conversation with 
Mr. Wilson before he asked me if  I could 
give away a barrel of  flour in my neigh-
bourhood? – Yes, was the immediate re-
ply. As many families were then in distress 
for the want of  bread, especially in the 
back townships, Mr Willson held a meet-
ing for charitable purposes, when I at-
tended to contribute my mite. There was 
a good collection. Shortly after my return 
home, to my great astonishment, instead 
of  a barrel of  flour, two sleigh loads of  
grain, flour, and some meat under the 
charge of  Mr. Samuel Hughes, whose in-
structions, as he left me, I cannot well 
forget; he said, in distributing this gener-
ous gift I was not to confine myself  to 
Georgina, but its distribution was to ex-
tend to Thorah and Brock, or to any set-
tlers who might be in want.  12

Hughes was thus an exemplary example of  the 
kind of  benevolence and philanthropy the 
Temple ceremonies were intended to encourage 
and sacralize. 

The completion of  the Temple did, howev-
er, pose a dilemma for the Children of  Peace. 
Unlike the Society of  Friends, they had no legal 
standing, and no way of  taking ownership of  
the Temple; it remained the private property of  
David Willson on whose land it was built. To 
overcome this difficulty, the Children of  Peace 
incorporated as a joint stock company once the 
Temple was finished in 1832. This was just one 
of  the joint stock companies they were to form 
in which Samuel Hughes was to take a critical 
role. 

The joint stock cooperative ventures that 
Hughes and the other elders developed were a 
means of  helping their children avoid depen-
dence on the market so they could participate 
in community projects such as the construction 

of  the temple and meeting houses. These 
younger market-oriented farmers, trapped in 
debt, were most in need of  relief. The Children 
of  Peace responded as a community to their 
debt crisis by prioritizing subsistence produc-
tion on the one hand, and subsidizing the farm 
production of  their younger members on the 
other. Their system of  mutual aid was based on 
labour exchanges (work bees), cooperative 
marketing, a credit union, and for a short time, 
a land-sharing agreement. At one point, Hugh-
es purchased a two hundred acre Crown re-
serve in the village as part of  this land-sharing 
plan. For those in immediate crisis, alms and a 
shelter for the homeless served as a stopgap.  
So successful was this cooperative regime of  
mutual aid, that by 1851, Hope was the most 
prosperous agricultural community in the prov-
ince.  13

The Farmer’s Storehouse & Bank 
Many early first hand accounts of  the Chil-

dren of  Peace mention their cooperative mar-
keting of  wheat. For example, George Henry, 
author of  Canada as it is, wrote “David keeps 
the store: the general produce of  the communi-
ty is deposited with him, and is conveyed to 
York, for sale, regularly twice a-week; and he 
accounts to the different members for the 
amount of  produce sent to market.” What they 
took to be a distinctive aspect of  the sect that 
set it off  from its neighbours - cooperative 
marketing - was instead, part of  a much wider 
cooperative movement in which the Children 
of  Peace participated. In York, Henry had him-
self  approvingly noted that: 

A large body of  the farmers in Yonge-
street, and in the townships in the vicinity 
of  York, have adopted the plan of  storing 
their own wheat; they have formed them-
selves into an association, and have built a 
very large storage at York, on the margin 
of  the lake, where they store it in the win-
ter, while the roads are good, and trans-
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port it down in the Spring, - thus securing 
to themselves the best prices. They have 
their secretary in York to see to the stor-
age, and keep the account of  deposits, 
&c   14

The Children of  Peace were shareholders in 
this cooperative venture, the Farmers’ Store-
house Company, founded in 1824. Although 
Willson made regular trips to York to deliver 
loads of  wheat - and to preach - it was Samuel 
Hughes who was most active in its organiza-
tion. He became president in 1833. 

The Farmers’ Storehouse stood at the centre 
of  a broad economic and political movement 
that, in its essentials, was not greatly different 
from much later cooperative movements such 
as the United Farmers of  Alberta in the early 
twentieth century, as well as contemporary 
movements, such as the Owenite socialists in 
Britain, and the Workingmen’s Party in the 
United States. The United Farmers trans-
formed the political landscape of  the prairies: 

Alberta radicals, drawing on British and 
North American radical traditions, casti-
gated monopolies and opposed ‘special 
privileges’ for corporations. Following the 
labour theory of  value - that labour cre-
ates and should retain all value - they saw 
themselves and workers as fellow produc-
ers. This belief  led them to call for a 
farmer-labour political alliance to imple-
ment their program of  radical monetary 
reform and state ownership to redistrib-
ute wealth.   15

The Farmers’ Storehouse was organized as an 
unincorporated joint stock company on 7 Feb-
ruary 1824. It was in many ways similar to a 
large number of  consumer-owned community 
flour and bread “societies” which flourished in 
England from 1759 to the 1860s. The Farmer’s 
Storehouse was organized during one of  the 
periodic downturns in the wheat trade, when 

colonial exports were barred from English 
markets and local trade stagnated. The Farmers’ 
Storehouse ensured that farmers obtained the 
best price for their wheat, and offered them 
merchandise at a reduced rate in return. Over 
time, it also became a source of  credit, a bank.  

The “Bread societies” which developed in 
England during the Napoleonic Wars were 
largely extensions of  existing “Friendly soci-
eties.”  Many historians, me included, have 16

contextualized the development of  the Chil-
dren of  Peace in terms of  their religious roots 
in the Society of  Friends. None, however, has 
pointed to the influence of  these “friendly so-
cieties.” Friendly societies were democratically 
organized self-help community insurance orga-
nizations designed to alleviate tragedies arising 
from accident, sickness and old age. Regular 
contributions to a common fund entitled the 
society member to relief  under prescribed cir-
cumstances thereby preserving that member’s 
respectability in the face of  calamity. The 
friendly societies’ diverse economic, social and 
political activities were shrouded in a ritual tra-
dition seemingly borrowed from Freemasonry. 
That tradition emphasized charity and the self-
less gift. The once monthly Saturday procession 
of  the Children of  Peace behind a band and 
banner from church to the temple for their 
alms collection concluded with the public 
count of  the money collected, and differed lit-
tle from British example except in ritual scale. 
The British societies, although initially highly 
localized institutions, shared a common ritual 
culture that emphasized “an oath, secret signs 
and knowledge, exclusive regalia marking office 
and achievement, members’ contributions kept 
in a ‘common box’, and a sense of  exclusive-
ness based on a line drawn between ‘insiders’ 
and ‘outsiders.’”  The rise in the price of  flour 17

during the Napoleonic Wars led many Friendly 
Societies to form “flour clubs” which pur-
chased and ground wheat for members, selling 
it to them at prime cost, and offering the poor 
unadulterated bread at reduced prices. 
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The Farmers’ Storehouse took advantage of  
a new economic niche developing in the colo-
nial wheat trade. The company was formed in 
the midst of  one of  the regular downturns in 
the flour trade with Britain, whose market re-
mained closed to Upper Canadian wheat be-
tween 1820 and 1823.  Flour traded in barter 18

remained the primary way in which most farm-
ers tried to resolve their debts to merchants; 
however, these merchants were themselves un-
able to sell their accumulated stocks profitably 
in Montreal. They thus made their profits from 
their retail sales, if  not the flour trade, by pur-
chasing their goods directly – and more cheaply 
– from Britain. After the Napoleonic Wars, as 
industrial production in Britain took off, Eng-
lish manufacturers began dumping cheap goods 
in Montreal; this allowed an increasing number 
of  shopkeepers in York to obtain their goods 
competitively from Montreal wholesalers. It 
was during this period that the three largest 
pre-war merchants were enabled to retire from 
business. Subsequently, there was a boom in the 
number of  increasingly specialized shops in 
York that could take advantage of  the change 
in grain tariffs after 1827, which expanded the 
market for Upper Canadian wheat. It was in 
this context, with the consolidation of  both the 
flour and wholesale trades in Montreal, that a 
group of  Home District millers and farmers 
formed the Farmers’ Storehouse Company to 
circumvent the control of  these New York 
merchants. 

The first board of  directors, elected in June 
1824, chose Ely Playter as chair. Playter had 
been elected a member of  the House of  As-
sembly for York-Simcoe in 1824. He was ap-
pointed to petition the lieutenant governor for 
a “water lot” on the beach in Toronto on which 
to build a storehouse; the directors received the 
lot where the St. Lawrence market building 
now stands (and immediately south of  the orig-
inal market buildings).  There they built a 19

warehouse 100 feet long by 20 feet wide by 20 
feet high. However, just as things were taking 
off,  Ely Playter fled the country after being 
charged with forgery in the beginning of  1826; 
the early, quick start was lost. The Farmers’ 
Store did not really seem to take off  until 1827 
by which time Joseph Shepard had become the 
president. 

In 1828, the board of  the Farmers Store-
house decided to petition the House of  As-
sembly for incorporation in December “to en-
able them to apply for and receive His Majesty’s 
Patent for the Water Lot depending thereon.”  20

They called a shareholder’s meeting on 2 Feb-
ruary 1829, and a week later Charles Fothergill 
presented the petition of  “Joseph Shepard and 
36 others” to the Assembly.  A select commit21 -
tee of  the House was formed and reported a 
bill on 3 March. It did not receive second read-
ing in that session, and Fothergill reintroduced 
the bill in the next session on 11 January 1830. 
It passed third reading on 26 January and was 
named “An Act to incorporate certain persons 
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by the style and title of  the ‘Associated Farm-
ers’ Company of  the Home District and Parts 
Adjacent.” The bill was then referred to the 
Legislative Council, where it was disallowed 
with no reason given.  22

Undaunted, the company petitioned again in 
the next session of  the Assembly. The petition 
was again referred to a select committee, this 
time chaired by William B. Jarvis, Home Dis-
trict Sheriff, and newly elected member for the 
town of  York.  Although Jarvis claimed on 20 23

January 1831 that he had a bill similar to the 
one passed in the previous session ready for the 
House to consider, by the middle of  February 
Goessman advertized, “The bill of  incorpora-
tion of  the Farmers’ Store House Company 
probably will not pass the Lower House this 
session. The reason is such, that I hesitate not 
to describe it here. The Chairman, a Town 
member, of  course for the merchants, has not 
yet presented the Bill.”  It is clear that the 24

merchants of  York had the upper hand, and 
were doing what they could to thwart the bill. 

Their third attempt at incorporation stymied, 
the board of  directors adopted a new tack, ad-
vertizing in July 1831 (for a full year) that in the 
next session, they would petition for “a charter 
for a Farmer’s Store House Bank, &c.”  This 25

apparently incongruous change reflects both 
the original purpose of  the Farmers’ Store, as 
well as the radically different nature of  banking 
in that era. The Farmers’ Store allowed its 
members to borrow against their stock; the 
company served as the creditor of  choice for 
farmers precisely because it loaned money or 
goods against payment in flour, for which they 
received a higher price. And as made clear by 
the Select Committee on the State of  the Cur-
rency chaired by W.L. Mackenzie (and whose 
report he published in the Colonial Advocate), the 
“Scottish System” of  joint stock banking of-
fered many advantages over limited liability 
monopolies on the English model such as the 
Bank of  Upper Canada.  Joint stock banks 26

were not protected by limited liability, and their 

shareholders property could be taken to pay 
bank debts. It was, then, a relatively small step 
for the Farmers’ Store to recast itself  as a bank 
which would issue promissory notes, instead of  
specie, backed by its own mercantile (or “real”) 
bills to its own customers/shareholders above 
and beyond the capital they had invested. 

The company’s storekeeper, John Goess-
man, finally called a meeting at Hope in 1833 to 
“depose $500 at a proper treasurer” and then 
authorize the issuance of  “promissory printed 
drafts” or bank notes on that account, putting 
the Farmers’ Storehouse Bank plan into 
action.  That the meeting was called for Hope 27

(Sharon), and that it proposed to issue prom-
issory notes at that particular time, was not co-
incidental. It marks a shift in the leadership of  
the Farmers’ Store from Joseph Shepard and 
John Goessman to Samuel Hughes. Hughes, 
like Shepard, was a prominent reform politi-
cian, who chaired many reform meetings north 
of  Oak Ridges just as Shepard did in York 
Township. Hughes was to play a central role in 
both the Political Union movement, as well as 
the Canadian Alliance Society that grew out of  
it, as we shall see.  

The plan Goessman proposed was similar to 
that implemented by the Children of  Peace the 
year before, at the time they completed the 
temple. Their Charity Fund composed of  alms 
collected in the temple had rapidly expanded 
beyond their charitable needs, making “money 
useless like the misers store, to the dissatisfac-
tion of  the brethren.” Just as the Farmers’ 
Store issued loans against share capital to its 
members, some of  the elders proposed that the 
surplus in the charity fund be loaned at interest 
to members.  Since they controlled the loan 28

process themselves, they could ensure that 
terms were manageable, that no one was denied 
credit, and that the repayment of  the principal 
remained flexible in difficult times. The only 
existing records for the Charity Fund begin in 
1845, at which time the fund was worth £226, 
4, 5 and of  which, £132, 12,11 had been loaned 
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out.  Most of  these loans were for sums less 29

than £25. Of  61 loans made between 1845 and 
1854, the average was £19, 5 - or about the 
amount of  the average debt of  those sued in 
the Home District Court in 1830. 

With three previous attempts to obtain a 
patent for their land failed, management of  the 
concern became increasingly difficult. On 10 
July 1834 the committee of  management under 
Hughes’s leadership placed an advertisement in 
the Colonial Advocate announcing the issuance 
of  a dividend, and that the storehouse would 
be let at auction for five years. The Farmers’ 
Store was now clearly moving towards becom-
ing just the Farmers’ Bank. On 25 January 
1835, the trustees for the storehouse, led by 
Hughes, again petitioned for incorporation – 
this time in a reform dominated assembly – one 
last time. Although their petition was referred 
to a select committee composed of  William 
Lyon Mackenzie, Samuel Lount and David 
Gibson, who drafted a bill, it was not presented 
until the next session, 11 February 1836. In its 
second reading, however, hostile amendments 
appeared to have been added which specifically 
banned the company from banking.  The bill 30

never reappeared as reformers lost control of  
the House. With all legislative avenues stymied, 
the Farmers’ Storehouse largely disappears 
from public view. It continued to hold its annu-
al meetings in 1836 and 1837 under Hughes 
chairmanship, to distribute its dividends, there-
by indicating that it continued a limited opera-
tion as a joint stock bank.  31

The Political Union Movement 
The Children of  Peace and the farmers of  

the Home district thus had many reasons for 
complaint against a colonial state that persecut-
ed them for their religious beliefs, allowed their 
economic exploitation, and marginalized them 
from politics. Their response to these abuses 
was to organize utilizing the political forms 
they inherited from Britain; the “political 
union” which had been so important to the 

passage of  the “Representation of  the People 
Act,” commonly known as the Reform Act of  
1832, by which many electoral reforms had 
been effected in England. The Unions were not 
political parties. They were, rather, political 
lobby groups that organized petition campaigns 
to the elected assembly, and to the king. Samuel 
Hughes was to be a key player in the develop-
ment of  the political union movement in the 
1830s, as well as a primary proponent of  its 
transformation into a political party. 

Samuel’s political participation first becomes 
apparent in August 1831, in a public meeting 
of  one hundred fifty to two hundred people for 
the township of  East Gwillimbury held in the 
“chapel” of  the Children of  Peace. The meet-
ing was one of  a series organized by Mackenzie 
that summer to petition the British Parliament 
to address a number of  perceived abuses. 
Samuel was elected one of  five members of  a 
committee to prepare the petition, seek signa-
tures, and correspond with other township 
committees on the matter.  32

Actual political unions were not introduced, 
however, until after William Lyon Mackenzie, 
the elected representative to the assembly for 
the farmers of  the Home District, was unlaw-
fully expelled from the House in late 1831. His 
expulsion galvanized the Children of  Peace, 
who declared in January of  1832 that they 
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would no longer sit on the sidelines, though 
they could not support Mackenzie’s methods. 

The aged amongst us have lived many 
years in peace and tranquility under His 
Majesty’s government and administration 
- we know that great men were greedy of  fees 
and honor, our burdens were light, and we 
lived in peace. But age increases wisdom - 
many have found great cause of  com-
plaint - we heartily concur with them in 
believing it is just - we believe that our 
present administrators have a partial side, 
which cannot be impartial justice and 
amidst his majesty subjects. Many are 
bribed by office and by fees, in our ap-
prehension, and no impartial mind can 
unite with partiality. All benefices are 
placed on one side of  the question, which 
is a cause of  contention, (though we have 
not been contentious). We avow ourselves to 
be substantial friends to the liberty and justice of  
the Constitution. We are firmly united in the 
cause of  our representative W.L. Mackenzie, so 
far as his means tends to equality and justice. 
We believe in the liberty of  the press to be a 
means of  our constitutional rights; but we 
also believe that there is a considerable 
part of  free press productions needlessly 
disquieting the minds of  the subjects, to 
the injury of  the province, and  irritating 
to men in power here. We are divided in 
the present system of  action, and halting 
between two opinions; but we are minded 
to halt no longer but put on the home 
garment and appear amongst men - we 
are unitedly for the liberty of  reason and 
talent on both sides of  the question, and 
we are not willing to use means to fetter 
any, either government nor country, this is 
liberty indeed, impartial and unbiased.  33

By March, David Willson was preaching on po-
litical matters in Toronto, and publishing these 
addresses as “An Address to Officers Adminis-

tering Government - and Priests Administering 
Gospel in the Province of  Upper Canada.”   34

Mackenzie traveled to England between 
April 1832 and August 1833 to appeal his ex-
pulsion. At the conclusion of  polling on 26 
November 1832, after the absent Mackenzie 
was acclaimed in the third by-election in that 
parliament for the County of  York, Dr Thomas 
D. Morrison, of  Toronto, called on those as-
sembled to join him in establishing a political 
union. Sixty-six of  those present signed up for 
the Upper Canada Central Political Union on 
the spot.  The Upper Canada Central Political 35

Union was infused with a radicalism different 
from the dominant British constitutionalism of  
most reform publications of  the period.   The 36

Union’s objects began with the usual invocation 
of  Upper Canada having been “singularly 
blessed with a Constitution the very image and 
transcript of  that of  Great Britain” but contin-
ued with a list of  the ways in which that consti-
tution had been abridged before concluding on 
a radical democratic note. They aimed “to con-
centrate public opinion, in order that it may be 
brought to act upon the political arena of  this 
Province in such a manner as to obtain and re-
tain the proper constitutional check to misrule, 
or mal-administration, in the hands of  the rep-
resentative branch of  our government.” This 
aim would be achieved by public education in 
the “JUST RIGHTS OF MAN, and the objects 
for which governments were instituted;” 
phraseology borrowed from the French and 
American revolutions. These “natural Rights of  
Man consist in Liberty, equality, security of  per-
son and property and the full enjoyment of  the 
produce of  his labour,” as well as a demand 
later dropped, that “every adult male member 
of  a community should have an equal right, 
and in fact has a natural right, to elect those 
who are to legislate for him.” It stated clearly 
the democratic nature of  all law, which “should 
be based upon the free and decided expression 
of  the PUBLIC WILL, subject to the rules and 
ends of  PUBLIC JUSTICE.” When that public 
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will, and the justice it demanded, was thwarted, 
“when any government violates the just rights 
of  the people, constitutional resistance be-
comes the imperative and indispensable duty” 
of  the aggrieved. The means the constitution 
granted them for seeking redress was the Politi-
cal Union.  37

A public meeting was called on 5 June in 
Newmarket to establish a second branch of  the 
Central Political Union - for the townships of  
Whitchurch, East Gwillimbury and Brock, the 
newly established Fourth Riding of  the County 
of  York.  Samuel Hughes chaired the New38 -
market meeting, and William Reid was secre-

tary; both were elders of  the Children of  Peace. 
This meeting, on a motion from Hughes, estab-
lished “Committees of  Vigilance” for each 
township in the riding, “to secure the return of  
an independent Member to the ensuing Parlia-
ment.”  The use of  committees of  reformers 39

to nominate candidates, rather than open non-
partisan public meetings, was a means to fore-
stall violent opposition. It was innovative, and 
led in short order to the proposal for a district 
wide convention. Importantly, one of  the 
committee members for Brock Township was 
Randal Wixson, the editor of  the Colonial Advo-
cate in Mackenzie’s absence. These committee 
members met in Hope the next month to elect 
an executive for the riding as a whole, and to 
act in unison with the York Central Committee. 
This ten member executive contained five 
members of  the Children of  Peace: Samuel 
Hughes was unanimously elected president and 
William Reid secretary. Importantly, they set 
quorum at any five members including the 
president.   The Children of  Peace thus domi40 -
nated the nomination process for the riding in 
the ensuing election. 

This was the period in which the Children 
of  Peace, and Hughes in particular, were also 
coming to the fore in the management of  the 
Farmers’ Store. This was the critical time in 
which, having established their own credit 
union, the Children of  Peace led the way in 

transforming the Farmers’ Storehouse into a 
bank. Lastly, this was the period in which the 
Children of  Peace adopted new regulations 
“for settling the village of  Hope” which pro-
vided for land-sharing among members. Hugh-
es purchased a two hundred acre clergy reserve 
lot in the village in 1833 to dispense land to 
members “according to his necessity, according 
to the goodness of  the Lord to his people in 
the land of  Egypt in the time of  their 
distress.”  Hughes, now the dominant reform 41

politician in the north half  of  the county, was 
critical to introducing these economic concerns 
to the reform movement as a whole. 

Mackenzie returned to Toronto from his 
London trip in the last week of  August 1833 to 
find his appeals to the British Parliament had 
been ultimately ineffective. A meeting of  the 
Central Committee was immediately called for 
Elliot’s Hotel for 2 September to plan on the 
future direction of  the political unions in the 
wake of  their disappointment.  At this critical 42

meeting, the Central Committee hammered out 
a plan of  action; they called, on the one hand, 
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for the construction of  a meeting hall where 
reformers could meet without threat of  vio-
lence - a building they called “Shepard’s Hall.”  43

And on the other hand, they planned for a 
“Grand Convention of  Delegates” from the 
Home District to select reform candidates, and 
a uniform platform, for the ensuing elections. 

At the same time as Shepard’s Hall was be-
ing touted in the Colonial Advocate, Mackenzie 
was putting together “A New Almanack for the 
Canadian True Blues, with which is incorporat-
ed the Constitutional Reformer’s Text Book,” 
in order to promote a political convention.  44

The pamphlet appeared early in October, and 
was in its second edition by the end of  the 
month. Buried within this twenty-four page 
pamphlet was a single page in small, dense type, 
obviously originally set as a handbill which had 
circulated much earlier. The handbill called for 
the establishment of  a regular system of  nomi-
nations for political candidates, as was practiced 
in the United States, and by the Catholic Asso-
ciation of  Ireland, through which Daniel O’-
Connell had promoted the Catholic Emancipa-
tion Act of  1829. The handbill called on the 
reformers of  each town and township to call a 
meeting to select three delegates to attend a 
county convention in the Old Court House to 
nominate appropriate candidates for the next 
election, and to establish a common platform.  

Although the handbill was signed “Patrick 
Swift” (Mackenzie’s pen name), David Willson 
was later to claim that the idea of  the conven-
tion had been his (a claim not contradicted by 
Mackenzie who published it).  Willson offered 45

further fatherly advice in Mackenzie’s paper on 
how to conduct such a new and innovative in-
stitution, emphasizing the importance of  estab-
lishing a permanent and regular convention; 
advice not immediately taken. Willson’s claim is 
substantiated by the report of  the earlier public 
meeting to establish a second branch of  the 
Central Political Union in Newmarket that was 
called on 5 June 1833 (before Mackenzie had 
returned from England), despite Mackenzie’s 

request that the unions be disbanded. The 
meeting was chaired by Samuel Hughes, and on 
a motion from him, established “Committees 
of  Vigilance” for each township in the riding, 
“to secure the return of  an independent Mem-
ber to the ensuing Parliament.”   The “Grand 46

Convention” was simply an extension of  this 
process to the District level for coordination of  
the four ridings of  York. 

The Grand Convention was thus little more 
than a centralization of  the local process for 
nominating candidates described by Hughes; 
local delegates were to be chosen to attend the 
Convention, and select candidates, who would 
then be confirmed by public meetings in their 
local constituencies. Only the delegates from 
within a riding played a role in selecting a can-
didate for that riding at the convention, and 
their selection required local public meetings to 
confirm the choice. Given the continued em-
phasis on local control of  the nomination 
process, it is not unreasonable to wonder about 
the need for a central meeting, or convention; 
the emphasis on local control of  its representa-
tive was balanced by the collective process of  
defining a platform to which the local candi-
dates had to agree. It is thus within this con-
vention that we see the germs of  a reform 
“party,” a “permanent convention.” 

The first of  the township meetings to report 
was East Gwillimbury, which met in the village 
of  Hope on 30 November; the early participa-
tion of  the Children of  Peace certainly adds 
credence to Willson’s claim to have been the 
convention’s initiator. They appointed Samuel 
Hughes one of  their delegates to the conven-
tion. This was followed by Albion township, 
which held a meeting on 9 December,  and 47

King township on 14 December.  The conven48 -
tion was convened for 27 February. On the 
20th, the Advocate published a letter from Will-
son addressed to the delegates in which he of-
fered advice on its future direction. He strongly 
advocated a province wide convention. He also 
“pray[ed] for a standing convention,” a party 
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organization, so that they could “do all your 
business with closed doors until your plans are 
well concerted, and then bring them to the 
light, far and wide as your care extends. In so 
doing, you will hide yourself  from the battle till 
you are armed, and save your heads from pub-
lic censure, and your weakness from the archers 
eye.”  The day before the convention, the 49

Children of  Peace again held a “Grand Proces-
sion” to the old Court House: “They will be 
accompanied by music and banners, as on the 
occasion of  the late County election, and they 
request the friends of  freedom, truth, justice 
and constitutional right to take part in the pro-
cession.” There David Willson again “ad-
dressed the meeting with great force and 
effect.”  50

The members of  the convention were not, 
however, so easily swayed by Willson’s call for a 
“permanent convention.” After the delegates 
had selected their candidates and prepared a 
ten-point platform to which those candidates 
had to pledge themselves, Samuel Hughes 
“proposed that the convention should resolve 
to continue its sittings from time to time during 
the continuance of  the next ensuing parlia-
ment, and proposed a Constitution for its 
adoption.” Although the original call for the 
convention had emphasized that once assem-
bled, its members should assume the responsi-
bility of  nominating an executive to reconvene 
the convention for the next year, a majority of  
the delegates reacted negatively to Hughes’ 
proposed constitution, because they “had not 
been appointed for any such purpose, and that 
their power should cease would cease immedi-
ately after the next general election.”  51

Although the convention failed to establish 
any permanent form of  organization, its candi-
dates and platform proved very successful and 
reformers swept the election in the Home Dis-
trict in late 1834. It was only after the election 
that these elected representatives sought to re-
constitute the Central Political Union, now un-
der the name of  the Canadian Alliance Society 

in December 1834. The Society took the room 
in the new Market Building abandoned by 
Mackenzie’s newspaper, the Advocate, when it 
was amalgamated with the Correspondent. By 
January 1835 the Children of  Peace were 
preaching in the same room every other Sun-
day,  leading the rival newspaper, the Courier, to 52

scathingly call it the “Holy Alliance Hay 
Loft.”  By early 1835, the Society, the Children 53

of  Peace, the Correspondent & Advocate and 
Mackenzie’s new paper, the Constitution, had all 
moved to their new “Shepard’s Hall” in Tur-
ton’s building on the north-east corner of  King 
and York Streets. 

The Children of  Peace thus played a critical 
role in the creation of  the Canadian Alliance 
Society which has not been recognized by 
scholars. As key players in the Farmers’ Store-
house, and as instigators of  a “permanent con-
vention,” they helped pull the movement to-
gether in its new home, “Shepard’s Hall,” 
where they continued to hold meetings for 
worship. Teasing out these linkages requires us 
to follow an intricate trail: from the rebuilding 
of  Solomon’s Temple in “Hope” by these “lost 
Israelites” fleeing their pharaoh, to the creation 
of  a credit union from the alms they collected 
there: from Children of  “Peace” subject to po-
litical violence, to building a safe home for free 
speech. And from preaching in Shepard’s Hall, 
to becoming political proselytizers of  a democ-
ratic Upper Canada. 

The Children of  Peace immediately formed 
a branch of  the Canadian Alliance Society in 
January 1835, and elected Samuel Hughes its 
president.  This branch met every two weeks 54

during the parliamentary session to discuss the 
bills before the assembly. One of  their more 
interesting proposals was to create a petitioning 
campaign for a written provincial constitution; 
Hughes was appointed to the committee.  A 55

constitution would be the means by which “the 
proceedings of  our government may be 
bounded - the legislative council rendered elec-
tive, and the government and council made re-
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sponsible - and that all Eccliastics be prohibited 
from holding seats in the council and that no 
officer of  the government should be irrespon-
sible.” The East Gwillimbury branch corre-
sponded with those in King and Whitchurch 
and met at McLeod’s tavern in Aurora on 25 
May to discuss the issue. It was no doubt meet-
ings like this that inspired Mackenzie, in No-
vember 1837, to draft a constitution for Upper 
Canada. The proposed constitution was osten-
sibly published as a response to a Patriot article 
a few weeks before, “A Conference on Gov-
ernment for the Instruction of  Radical Re-
formers” which recorded a hypothetical debate 
between Cromwell and his advisers in the 
“Glorious Revolution” on the relative benefits 
of  mixed monarchy and republicanism.  56

Mackenzie responded by composing a satire, a 
round table discussion by such luminaries as 
John Locke, Benjamin Franklin, George Wash-
ington, Oliver Goldsmith and William Pitt and 
others. The discussion allegedly took place in 
the long room of  the Royal Oak Hotel, in 
Churchville, where a public meeting that sum-
mer had been disrupted by Orange violence, 
and an attempt made on Mackenzie’s life.  57

These discussions were said to be part of  a 
“convention sitting in this township for the 
purpose of  circulating political information, 
weighing opinions as to the best means of  im-
proving the civil institutions of  the country, 
and endeavoring to determine whether the 
British Constitution, Sir F. Head’s government 
or Independence would be the most likely to 
prove advantageous to the people.”  Macken58 -
zie’s satire (though actually intended to serve as 
a constitution after the rebellion), was no doubt 
based upon discussion like those by the branch 
societies of  Hope, King and Whitchurch meet-
ing at McLeod’s tavern the year before. 

The Canadian Alliance Society did not, how-
ever, have the same success as the earlier Cen-
tral Political Union in nominating and electing 
candidates. The reformers were routed in the 
elections of  1836 due to the intervention of  Lt. 

Governor Francis Bond Head, and endemic 
electoral violence by the Orange Order. Their 
discontent was deepened by the economic crisis 
sweeping the Atlantic world. By December 
1836, a deep depression had gripped the prov-
ince: “The winter has set in, cold, gloomy and 
cheerless… Empty Houses are Stores are to be 
met with by the score.”  The victorious Tories 59

passed a whole series of  laws that struck at the 
political rights of  the reformers. The “Act to 
Abolish the distinction between Grand and Pe-
tit Larceny” eliminated the category of  petty 
theft, and treated all theft under the rules of  
grand larceny; it broadened the magistrates’ 
power by granting them the authority to sen-
tence any thief  (of  whatever amount) to up to 
three years in the Kingston Penitentiary, or up 
to seven years of  banishment.  The bill had 60

been introduced in 1835 by Attorney General 
John B. Robinson, and repeatedly stalled in the 
reform dominated Assemblies of  1835-6. The 
final passing of  the bill by the Tory assembly 
led Dr O’Grady, editor of  the Correspondent & 
Advocate, to compare it to the Irish Coercion 
Act of  1833, which similarly granted appointed 
magistrates broadly oppressive powers.  The 61

Tories also passed an amendment to the Court 
of  Requests Bill which allowed “any proud, 
vindictive or harsh creditor in Toronto, to bring 
his debtor, or any person he may choose to say 
he has a claim upon, for eighteen pence, from 
Caledon, Georgina, Brock, Whitchurch, or any 
distant township in this district, in the middle 
of  harvest, to answer at the Request Court in 
this city.”  Anyone who failed to respond to 62

the summons would summarily forfeit, and 
would be subject to the claim and court costs, 
which could ressult in their being jailed indefi-
nitely in debtor’s prison. 

It is against the backdrop of  a broad eco-
nomic crisis, and the increasingly tight grip of  
the Tories on the political and economic levers 
of  the state that the reformers again sought to 
re-organize themselves. The Canadian Alliance 
Society was reborn as the Toronto Political 
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Union in October 1836. The Union’s “delibera-
tions are open to the people; two hundred per-
sons may generally obtain convenient seats… It 
is, we presume, understood that the rules and 
usages of  the House of  Assembly, when in de-
bate, will be enforced.”  By this time, however, 63

there was a general frustration expressed with 
the effectiveness of  petitioning the home gov-
ernment; a public address by the people of  
Hope concluded that “praying to England has 
been like angling in deep water where nothing 
is taken.”  64

In March, 1837, the near moribund Toronto 
Union turned once more to its historically 
strong base, the farmers of  the Home District. 
In a meeting at the end of  March the Toronto 
Political Union resolved to petition the now 
dying king;  in that petition they complained 65

of  the “undue influences and infractions to 
which our liberties have been lately most de-
plorably subjected[;] we will not enlarge on our 
firm and unalterable resolution, never while we 
live, to recognize the present Assembly as our 
free and independent Representatives, or to 
consider their acts as justly binding upon us or 
our children.” The illegitimacy of  the Assembly 
led them to warn the king “that the Province 
has arrived at that crisis when it behooves the 
people in defense of  their indefeasible rights to 
meet together in general conviction [sic] of  
Delegates, to consider of  such changes in their 
Provincial Constitution as may be likely to ob-
viate the various evils of  which they have so 
long complained in vain.”  Mackenzie expand66 -
ed on the petition’s call for a “convention of  
the people of  the two provinces” in an appeal 
“to the people of  the County of  York” in 
May.  Here, he explicitly linked the need for 67

the convention with the economic disaster fac-
ing farmers, focusing in particular on the “pa-
per dollar lords” and “colonial despotism.” The 
only solution to these economic woes, he as-
serted, was a convention of  the people “to de-
vise means to rescue the country from its 
present distressed state.” The reformers were 

clear about the economic roots of  their politi-
cal organization. 

It was not, however, until after the death of  
King William IV on 20 June that the Toronto 
Political Union proceeded to organize this con-
vention, now clearly a “constitutional conven-
tion.” According to legal precedent, an election 
had to be called within six months of  the death 
of  the king, and so they geared up for the in-
evitable. In July, Mackenzie published a plan for 
a “Political Union, for the establishment of  the 
Constitution on the broad basis of  civil and 
religious liberty and equal right.”  Establishing 68

such an extra-parliamentary association for the 
purpose of  “channeling discontent, disseminat-
ing propaganda, petitioning parliament, and, as 
a last resort, organizing a revolution” had a 
long history in Britain, stretching back to the 
1770s radicals Obadiah Hulme, James Burgh 
and Major John Cartwright.  The Continental 69

Congress was exemplary of  the process, but 
such conventions were organized within Britain 
as well; the Irish convention movement 
emerged in 1791-2, the Scottish Friends of  the 
People in 1792-3, the London Corresponding 
Society in 1794, and a constitutional conven-
tion by the National Union of  the Working 
Classes (NUWC) in 1833.  70

The first of  these meetings to select dele-
gates to the constitutional convention were 
held at Doel’s Brewery in Toronto on 28 and 31 
July; the reformers struck a committee to pre-
pare a “Declaration of  the Reformers of  the 
City of  Toronto to their Fellow Reformers in 
Upper Canada” which called for the implemen-
tation of  Mackenzie’s plan.  The declaration 71

contained provocative references to the Ameri-
can Revolution, including a direct attack on the 
monarch who was held personally responsible 
for the unrepresentative government and par-
tial administration of  the colony. Such refer-
ences were hard to miss, since Mackenzie began 
serializing Thomas Paine’s revolutionary tract, 
Common Sense, in the Constitution, and handed 
out copies in these public meetings.  The re72 -
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formers expressed their frustration that “in 
every stage of  these proceedings we have peti-
tioned for redress in most humble terms; our 
repeated petitions have been answered only by 
repeated injuries.”  

The second meeting of  the renewed Political 
Union was called to order by Samuel Hughes 
three days later, on 3 August in Newmarket. 
Mackenzie regaled the crowd for more than an 
hour, reviewing the complaints listed in the 
Declaration of  the Toronto Reformers. Samuel 
Hughes proposed a motion which castigated 
“the conduct of  Sir Francis Bond Head… for 
he has tampered with our rights at elections – 
disposed of  many thousands of  pounds of  our 
revenue without our consent – and governed us 
by the strong hand of  arbitrary and unconstitu-
tional power – depreciating our currency, and 
pretending to maintain cash payments, while 
the Bank, immediately connected with his gov-
ernment, was flooding the colony with the 
notes of  a Bankrupt Bank in another 
province.” The meeting appointed Hughes, 
Samuel Lount, Nelson Gorham, Silas Fletcher, 
Jeremiah Graham and John McIntosh, M.P.P. as 
delegates to the convention (and all, with the 
exception of  Hughes and MacIntosh, leaders in 
the Rebellion); they also appointed twenty three 
men to a “Committee of  vigilance” to organize 
local political unions. David Willson then ad-
dressed the crowd, similarly attacking the 
“gross obstructions in the way of  political im-
provement, or the administration of  good gov-
ernment, equality, justice and peace.” The first 
of  these obstructions was no less than the 
“principal magistrate, the King” who was “not 
possessed of  that freedom and liberality of  
sentiment and expression, with which every 
impartial MONARCH or magistrate ought to 
be endued.”  73

A further eight public meetings across the 
Home District were scheduled over the next 
three weeks; each of  these public meetings 
named a local committee of  vigilance to orga-
nize reform support, prepare a registry of  valid 

electors, and name their delegates to the pro-
posed convention. The meetings in the Home 
District met with an increasing amount of  Or-
ange Order violence, but they persisted as the 
reformers began to protect themselves and re-
sort to arms to do so.  Any armed, “seditious” 74

meeting, however, could easily be construed 
“rebellion”; yet no peaceful means of  achieving 
reform remained.  As Carol Wilton notes, “By 75

the fall of  1837, then, it had become virtually 
impossible for reformers to hold lawful politi-
cal meetings in the province.” Their range of  
options had narrowed almost to the vanishing 
point. The peaceable reform meetings tapered 
off  in October, to be replaced by instances of  
men drilling for battle.”  Everyone looked 76

forward to the constitutional convention. 
Mackenzie finally set the date for the conven-
tion of  delegates on 21 December; the symbol-
ic date precisely six months after the death of  
William IV.  By the mere fact that Head had 77

not called an election, the Assembly could be 
deemed unconstitutional as British law made 
elections six months after the death of  the king 
mandatory. The radical reformers would have 
been perfectly legitimate in utilizing violence in 
the face of  illegal state repression to hold their 
constitutional convention after that date. 

It is at this point, that Samuel Hughes, dele-
gate to the constitutional convention he had 
himself  argued for, began to withdraw from 
the Children of  Peace. His reasons for doing 
so, however, had little to do with the as yet un-
planned rebellion. Rather, Hughes found him-
self  increasingly alienated from the Children of  
Peace on the issue of  their rejection of  his 
ministry. He was hurt that, having “for many 
years sat silent that he [David Willson] might 
speak; and in all things I perferred him to my-
self. – But in prosess of  time, when I had be-
come advanced in years, and beheld the iniqui-
ety of  men, and the corruption of  society; that 
I arose up and spoke a few words in the pres-
ence of  men… he did immediately oppose my 
testamony and began to speak of  me, to the 
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people by a voice that I knew not.”  Hughes 78

took no part in the rebellion, and suffered no 
repercusions in the aftermath, unlike the other 
members of  the Children of  Peace. 

The Rebellion was, for Hughes, a sign:  

One thing remarkable, and connected 
with these events was that the author be-
ing at the same time in the village, and 
retired to rest as usual… remained undis-
turbed through the night; neither did the 
guards so much as move a latch or bolt of  
the door that night, when calamities pre-
vailed arround in almost every house.  
Mothers crying for their sons, and wives 
for their husbands, yet in the habitation 
of  the author there was not a dog moved 
his tongue.  Therefore I thought proper 
to give the reader a hint of  these things, 
and how all things were thrown into con-
fusion at that time, and before order was 
restored again a separation had taken 
place, between me and them.  79

Temperance Advocate 

Although Hughes was president of  the 
Farmers’ Storehouse, and chair of  the northern 
branch of  the Central Political Union by 1833, 
his thoughts were also turning to the ministry. 
Since his early life with the Society of  Friends, 
he had always been moved by a religious con-
cern on the abuse of  alcohol. As he noted in 
his history of  Upper Canadian Friends,  

About this time [1810] it was that the 
monthly meeting of  Yonge Street ap-
pointed a committee of  men and women 
friends, to labour with such of  their 
members as ware in the habit of  using 
strong drink, and also such as sold their 
grain to the distilleries for the purpose of  
distillation, which was at that time a pre-
vailing practice amongst the farmers.  
Thus the testimonies of  society was 

maintained against the corrupting habit, 
and the principals of  truth over that 
growing evil.  80

In December of  1831, however, he was to ex-
perience a transformative event that sharpened 
his concern.  

It was about the beginning of  December 
1831, that a poor man… left the village 
of  Newmarket on a Friday evening to go 
to the Holland Landing; having with him 
a small sled, three jugs of  whiskey and a 
little dog. Having drank too freely of  the 
poison in the jugs, and a heavy snow 
storm beating in his face, he lost his road 
and wandered about in byeways until he 
was quite bewildered; and the cold in-
creasing to an intense degree, together 
with the liquor he had drank rendered 
him stupid and unable to draw the sled. It 
appears he came sometime in the night to 
the neighbourhood of  this village, and 
left his sled… He went a few rods into a 
field where, to appearance, he fell down, 
and not being able to rise, folded his arms 
about him and died. The little dog re-
mained faithful to his master’s goods at 
the sled till he was discovered by some of  
the neighbours, which led to the suspicion 
that the owner was lost, and search was 
immediately made for him. The snow 
however had fallen so deep that all efforts 
to discover the body proved fruitless… 
[the] awful truth, however, was ascer-
tained about the middle of  March, when 
the corpse was discovered frozen hard, 
lying directly under the pathway of  sleighs 
where it had remained nearly four 
months… 
When some preparations were made, we 
assembled to take up the body. After 
loosening the skeleton and turning it over, 
and I had removed the jug that still re-
mained close by his side, the spectacle he 
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presented produced in me feelings be-
yond description. And what was still more 
to be abhorred, the very man in whose 
service he died, & for whom the whiskey 
was bought, was at that moment reeling 
to and fro over the corpse in a state of  
intoxication. Who could look upon such a 
scene without sorrow of  heart, or without 
resolving to give all his aid and influence 
to Temperance Societies? I fastened up 
the box into which the body was put: my 
mind was overcharged, my soul revolted 
at the scene, — I turned my back and 
went away.  81

The powerful immediacy of  this report printed 
in the Christian Guardian gives a sense of  what 
drove Hughes to fight intemperance. It is, how-
ever, rare in his writing. Shortly after the expe-
rience, Hughes was to compose a highly styl-
ized parable, which he was eventually to publish 
with other parables and lectures on intemper-
ance in 1836.  Hughes was to write a second 82

pamphlet in 1835 in similar, heavy-handed alle-
gorical style on the Orthodox-Hicksite separa-
tion.  It was a third work written in late 1837 83

which was to prove a block on his ministry 
among the Children of  Peace. 

Starting in January of  1835, Hughes began 
what might be considered an annual lecture on 
intemperance. In the first of  these lectures, he 
noted that there were “105 habitual drunkards 
out of  a population of  1070 male adults” in 
East Gwillimbury and Whitchurch townships. 
Among these 105 habitual drunkards were “78 
husbands who are parents of  families, and 
from the best information, fathers of  312 chil-
dren, and are companions, or rather abusers, of  
78 afflicted women, who are bound to suffer 
under the government of  madness and distrac-
tion.” Another lecture was presented in January 
of  1836. The tragic death by fire of  a local 
magistrate in March led Hughes to immediately 
organize more meetings, and to publish his 
“Remarks on Intemperance.”  About No84 -

vember 1837 he presented a more theological 
manuscript to the other elders of  the Children 
of  Peace, seeking their support. The pamphlet 
not only argued against such rituals involving 
wine as communion, but also contested 
whether Christ had ever commanded his disci-
ples to do so.  85

This address appeared to be the source of  
the final breach between Hughes and the Chil-

dren of  Peace. He had evidently attempted to 
minister on the subject in their regular meetings 
for worship, against their objections; it was 
these objections which led him to consolidate 
his arguments in the November address. The 
objections of  David Willson, in particular, 
placed Hughes in the same position that Will-
son himself  was in, in 1812, when the Yonge 
Street elders forbade him to speak. Like Will-
son almost thirty years before, Hughes felt he 
had no choice but to separate himself  so that 
he could continue his ministry. In consequence, 
Hughes was the only delegate to the constitu-
tional convention scheduled for December, 
who did not participate in the raging debates 
about the rebellion. Any impact he might have 
had on the course of  events was lost. It was 
rather, the urgings of  his cousin, Samuel Lount, 
who carried the day. 

Hicksite Minister 

We know little of  what transpired through-
out 1838. Hughes remained in the village of  
Hope, but wrote his sister in early 1839 to say 
he had “some prospect of  building a house on 
my farm and leave the village [of  Hope], but 
not immediately as I shall be under the necessi-
ty of  building a house first, the house that is 
there being occupied by a tenant.”  By July 86

1839 he had written an “article of  settlement 
and peace” to the villagers of  Hope, in which 
he proclaimed he had “given up all controversy 
about the government” of  the Children of  
Peace, and would simply demand a say in the 
distribution of  alms for as long as he continued 
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to contribute.  However, any further attempts 87

at conciliation were cut off, shortly thereafter, 
by illness and accident. 

It is unknown when Hughes first began to 
attend meetings for worship among the Hick-
site Quakers on Yonge Street. He wrote he had 
attended a large assembly of  Friends and oth-
ers on 14 and 15 August in Rochester that was 
probably related to the temperance crusades 
convulsing that city at the time.  However, on 88

his return from that meeting, Hughes was 
struck with a severe illness on 30 September 
1839 that left “most of  his friends and neigh-
bours despairing of  hopes of  recovery.” It was 
a month before he recovered, and three 
months before he could attend to business. At 
that point, he fell from the upper floor of  his 
barn, striking his head. These illnesses kept him 
from moving to the new house he had built on 
his farm until the summer of  1840. In June, as 
he moved into the new house near Holland 
Landing, he also applied for membership in the 
Yonge Street Monthly Meeting [Hicksite]. His 
wife, Anna Armitage Wiggins Hughes applied 
for membership in August, and the two were 
accepted.  89

Hughes attended the Yearly Meeting in 
Farmington, Michigan, in 1844, and shortly 
thereafter was recommended as a minister by 
the Half  Years Meeting of  Ministers and El-
ders. Yonge Street Monthly Meeting recognized 
his ministry in November.  Subsequently, 90

Hughes appeared to travel regularly in the min-
istry. In 1845, he repeated his journey to Yearly 
Meeting in Michigan, and went on to visit all 
the meetings westward of  Farmington.  In 91

1846, he was to visit Mariposa Meeting,  and 92

1849, the “Queen’s Bush” in Peel County, 
where he appointed meetings among white and 
black settlers.  In 1850, he was to strike south 93

as far as Salem, Ohio, where he was to publish 
“A warning to the Society of  Friends every-
where.” A common theme to each of  these 
meetings and publications was to strengthen 
the sense of  duty and service of  meeting el-

ders. 
In his declining years, this theme was sup-

plemented by a concern for the young. Al-
though married three times, Hughes had no 
children, and this seemed to weigh increasingly 
on his mind as death approached. During a six-
week visit to Ohio Yearly Meeting in 1851, 
Hughes was to publish a pamphlet “To the 
Children and Youth of  Friends’ Families, Con-
stituting Yonge Street Monthly Meeting; and to 
all others in similar circumstances.” He had 
written a similar epistle to the students of  West 
Lake Boarding School in February 1851.  His 94

will left money to republish one thousand 
copies of  an eighteenth century moral classic 
for children, Robert Dodsley’s “The economy 
of  human life: translated from an Indian man-
uscript, written by an ancient Bramin” (1751).  95

His last work, published just before his death, 
was his “Last Will and Testament of  Samuel 
Hughes, on religious subjects. For Friends and 
relations everywhere” (1856). Samuel Hughes 
died 11 December 1856. Anna Armitage Wig-
gins Hughes died 29 December 1865. They are 
buried in the Hicksite cemetery, Newmarket. 
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